
“Complex Riese”
If you drive from the Silesian town of Schweidnitz 
towards the Owl Mountains, you pass several places 
and buildings which were once part of a single, 
large-scale construction project. At first glance, 
these places do not seem to be connected in any 
way, however. Some of them are marked explicitly as 
historical  sites.  Some  lie  hidden  behind  incon-
spicuous village names. Others only become visible 
when you are actually looking for them. The aim of 
this website is to support you in finding your way 
around the “Complex Riese”.
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Dear Reader!
This brochure is supposed to help you in organizing 
a round tour through the so-called “Komplex Riese.” 
On the following pages, you will find short texts 
on individual places related to the complex. Within 
these texts, several terms are printed in italics; 
in the chapters titled Glossary and Biographies you 
will find further information on these terms. Thus, 
we hope to give you a better understanding of the 
different  sites  within  the  construction  project 
“Riese” (“Giant”) as well as its historical con-
text.

Funded by the Foundation „Remembrance, Responsibil-
ity and Future“ and the Robert Bosch Foundation.
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ated by the Krzyzowa Foundation for Mutual Understand-
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part  of  the  History  Workshop  Europe  as  well  as  the 
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the Krzy oważ  Foundation for Mutual Understanding in Eu-
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associate  for the  Central Prisoner  of War  Museum in 
Lambinowice-Opole;  Mariusz  Zajaczkowski,  staff member 
of the Institute of National Remembrance (IPN); Monika 
Szurlej,  staff member of the Krzy oważ  Foundation for 
Mutual  Understanding  in  Europe;  Johanna  Grützbauch, 
staff member of the Mittelbau-Dora Concentration Camp 
Memorial.
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ROUND TOUR

The “Complex Riese”

Extensive  construction 
work on a number of un-
derground shelters and 
tunnels  took  place  in 
the  Owl  Mountains  (a 
part of the Giant Moun-
tains) between 1943 and 
1945. The exact purpose 
of these facilities re-
mains  unclear  even 
today.  German  sources 
suggest that they were 
supposed  to  be  turned 
into a huge underground 
shelter  covering  more 
than  35  square  kilo-
metres, with one of Ad-
olf  Hitler’s  Führer 
Headquarters at  its 
centre. Furthermore, it 
was planned to be used 
as  a  refuge  for  the 
leading members of the 
military as well as a 
safe place for certain 
industrial  facilities. 
The  construction  work 
was done by forced la-
bourers  from  concen-
tration camps. In this 
case,  they  came  >from 
the KZ Groß-Rosen. They 
were housed in a number 
of  Außenlagern (sub-
camps  or  satellite 
camps)  called  “AL 
Riese” in the immediate 
vicinity to the tunnels 
and other construction 
sites  related  to  the 
“Complex Riese.”

The Tunnels

As of today, seven sys-
tems  of  shelters  and 
tunnels  belonging  to 
the “Komplex Riese” are 
known to exist in the 
Owl Mountains. They are 
found  at 
Dorfbach/Rzeczka, Ober-
dorf/Jugowice,  Wolfs-
berg/Wlodarz,  Ramen-
berg/Soboul,  Falken-
berg/Sokolec,  on  the 
slopes  of  the  Säufer-
höhen/Osowka  and  near 
Castle 
Fürstensein/Zamek 
Skiaz. They are all of 
a similar design, cor-
responding to the lay-
out  of  other  subter-
ranean  Führer 
Headquarters. The site 
at  Dorfbach  covered 
2500 square metres, 15% 
of  the  walls  had 
already  been  covered 
with  concrete,  and  it 
had three different en-
trance points. The tun-
nels  at  Obersdorf  are 
only 500 m long, while 
work on the shelters on 
the  slopes  of  the 
Säuferhöhen  had  pro-
gressed  somewhat  fur-
ther:  here,  two  major 
and four minor tunnels 
with a total length of 
1700 m were built. This 
particular  facility 
also featured an elev-
ator  shaft  leading  to 
buildings in the forest 
above.  The  tunnels  at 
Ramenberg  have  three 
entrances  and  a  total 
length of 700 m. Con-
struction  on  surface 
buildings  had  begun 
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here, as well. 
Today,  three  of  these 
sites  are  run  by 
private owners and can 
be visited by tourists: 
Wolfsberg,  Walim  and 
Säuferhöhen.
On  entering  the  tun-
nels, the true scope of 
this wholly unrealistic 
construction  project 
becomes obvious. It is 
only  one  example  of 
Nazi megalomania. 

“AL Riese” – Satellite 
Camps (“Außenlager”) of 
KZ Groß-Rosen
(Wüstegiersdorf/Gluszyc
a, Dörnhau/Kolce, Ober-
wüstegiersdorf/Gluszyca 
Gorna,  Wüstewal-
tersdorf/Walim)

A majority of the pris-
oners  who  had  to  do 
forced  labour  during 
the  construction  of 
“Riese” were housed in 
4  large  subcamps: 
Wüstegiersdorf, Dörnau, 
Oberwüstegiersdorf and 
Wüstewaltersdorf.
In these four villages, 
the prisoners lived in 
local  factory  build-
ings. Thus, the prison-
ers and the local res-
idents  were  in  visual 
contact with each other 
on  a  regular  basis, 
which is depicted in a 
very impressive manner 
in  the  Memories  of  a 
Wüstegiersdorf  Resid-
ent.
One  geographical  par-
ticularity  about 
Silesia  is  the  fact 
that the region belongs 
to  the  former  eastern 

territories of the Ger-
man Reich whose inhab-
itants were almost all 
expelled after the war. 
Due to the forced mi-
gration of people from 
eastern  Poland  to 
Silesia, there has been 
only a small number of 
contemporary  eye  wit-
ness reports about the 
events related to “Kom-
plex Riese.”

Castle Fürstenstein and 
Castle Bad Charlotten-
brunn

Castle 
Fürstenstein/Zamek 
Ksiaz as well as Castle 
Bad 
Charlottenbrunn/Jed-
lina  Zdroj are  still 
sites worth seeing and 
are  gradually  opened 
for tourism. Here, the 
Organisation Todt (OT), 
which  was responsible 
for  all  the  construc-
tion work to be done, 
and  its  construction 
manager  Xaver  Dorsch 
had  established  their 
general base of opera-
tions in 1944. This or-
ganisation, founded by 
Fritz Todt, was charged 
by  Albert  Speer with 
the  implementation  of 
his  plans  after  the 
initial contractor, the 
“Schlesische  Indus-
triegemeinschaft  AG” 
(the  “Silesian  Indus-
trial Community Corpor-
ation”), was deemed too 
inefficient  in  their 
work. Moreover, Castle 
Fürstenstein  was  sup-
posed to be turned into 
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a prestigious residence 
for Hitler.

Former Officers’ Mess

The remnants of the of-
ficers’  mess  in  the 
forest  close  to  the 
tunnel system at Wolfs-
berg/Wlodarz acts as a 
clear indicator for the 
presence of the milit-
ary  commanders  sta-
tioned  at  “AL  Riese”; 
the officers’ mess was 
their dining hall.
Despite  their  undis-
puted  function  these 
ruins  in  the  forest 
have become part of a 
mythic construct about 
the  possible  purposes 
of the tunnel systems, 
consisting  of  a  large 
number  of  conspiracy 
theories,  legends  and 
myths  about  “Komplex 
Riese.”
These myths are upheld 
primarily  to  exploit 
the full touristic po-
tential of the tunnels.
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GLOSSARY

The Satellite Camps of 
KZ Groß-Rosen

The national socialists 
started  expanding  the 
subcamp system of Groß-
Rosen in 1942. At that 
time,  the  first  so-
called work camp – Bre-
slau-Lissa  –  was  set 
up. Further expansions 
had to be postponed un-
til  1944.  This  delay 
had  become  necessary 
due  to  a  shortage  of 
labour in the industry 
of  Lower  Silesia, 
caused by the conscrip-
tion of many young Ger-
man  citizens  into  the 
armed  forces  and  the 
relocation of arms in-
dustry  facilities  to 
the region. Forced la-
bour  camps  for  Jews, 
run  by  the  “Organisa-
tion  Schmelt”,  were 
also under the command 
of Groß-Rosen’s admin-
istration.  In  Lower 
Silesia,  the  Sudetes 
and  the  region  around 
Luban, a total of 100 
satellite  camps  were 
built, always in close 
vicinity to local arms 
industry  facilities. 
Among the largest ones 
were: AL Fünfteichen, 4 
camps  in  Breslau,  AL 
Dyhenfurth,  AL  Lande-
shut  and  AL  Riese. 
Among  the  businesses 
who  profited  from  the 
workers in the subcamps 
were:  a  chemical  com-
pany  in  Dyhenfurth 
(which became the chem-
ical  company  “Rokita” 

in  Brzeg  Dolny  after 
the  war),  an  armament 
factory in Fünfteichen 
(the car factory “Jel-
cz” in Laskowice after 
the war) and the fact-
ory  “FAMO”  in  Breslau 
where  –  among  other 
things – plane engines 
and  military  vehicles 
were built (“Dolmel” in 
Wroclaw after the war). 
The  satellite  camps 
were divided into three 
different  categories: 
camps for female Jewish 
prisoners  form  Poland 
and Hungary, camps for 
male and female prison-
ers, and camps exclus-
ively reserved for men. 
The  women  were  housed 
in  subcamps  where  – 
just  like  the  men  – 
they  had  to  work  for 
the arms as well as the 
textile  industry.  To-
wards  the  end  of  the 
war,  they  were  also 
used to erect antitank 
obstacles  and  to  dig 
trenches.

Außenlager Riese (Sub-
camp Riese)

The “AL Riese” of the 
KZ Groß-Rosen consisted 
of 4 major and 12 minor 
camps. They were run by 
the OT, as all prison-
ers kept there were as-
signed to the construc-
tion  of  “Komplex 
Riese.” It is estimated 
that  between  1943  and 
1945 a total of 13,300 
prisoners  were  living 
in  the  camps,  guarded 
by 853 men. 
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These guards were under 
the  command  of  seven 
Wehrmacht officers, who 
themselves  were  under 
the command of SS Head 
Storm  Leader  Karl 
Beblo. Head of adminis-
tration  was  SS  Senior 
Storm  Leader  Albert 
Lütkemeyer.  The  camp 
physician was Dr Hein-
rich  Rindfleisch,  to 
whom 63 physicians and 
56  nurses  from  among 
the  camp  inmates  were 
assigned.  Starting  in 
autumn 1944, he worked 
in the new central in-
firmary  in  Dörnau.  It 
is  known  that  3648 
prisoners died of dis-
ease  and  exhaustion, 
caused  by  bad  living 
conditions in the camp, 
malnutrition,  hard 
physical labour and ab-
use. The deportation of 
857 exhausted prisoners 
to Auschwitz as well as 
14  planned  executions 
after failed escape at-
tempts  are  also  docu-
mented.  Upon  the  im-
pending arrival of the 
Red Army, the camp was 
evacuated. Up to 9,000 
prisoners  were  taken 
via  Trautenau  to 
Flossenbürg,  Bergen-
Belsen  and  the  Mau-
thausen  subcamp 
Ebensee. Several thou-
sands were left behind 
and  freed  by  the  Red 
Army.  Even  after  the 
liberation many former 
inmates died from long-
term  consequences  of 
their  time  in  the 
camps; so when talking 
about Komplex Riese, a 
total  number  of  5,000 

victims who lost their 
lives would probably be 
the  most  appropriate 
estimate. 

Individual Camps of “AL 
Riese”
The first camp of “AL 
Riese” was in Wüstegi-
ersdorf/Tannhausen.  Up 
to 2,000 prisoners were 
kept in a three-storey 
factory  building  sur-
rounded  by  a  barbed 
wire fence. The inmates 
were guarded by 75 men. 
Most  prisoners  were 
used for the construc-
tion  of  tunnels  and 
railways  at  Ramenberg 
and  Säuferhöhen.  They 
were  also  assigned  to 
other  work  related  to 
the  construction  of 
Komplex Riese. Some in-
mates of the camp were 
selected  for  deporta-
tion  to  Auschwitz  by 
camp  physician  Rind-
fleisch.  The  factory 
building was again used 
for the manufacture of 
technical  components 
after  the  war  had 
ended.

In  late  1943,  another 
camp  was  set  up  in  a 
factory  building  at 
Dörnau; in 1944, it had 
to be completely evacu-
ated and re-established 
after  an  outbreak  of 
typhoid  fever.  Up  to 
2,000  prisoners  were 
kept  in  this  camp. 
Starting  in  mid-1944, 
this camp was used as a 
central infirmary, loc-
ated  on  the  second 
floor of the building. 
Many patients died due 
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to wilful neglect. 
The prisoners were used 
for street construction 
work,  sewer  work  and 
underground  construc-
tion  work  related  to 
Komplex  Riese.  After 
the  liberation  of  the 
remaining  inmates  the 
building  was  returned 
to its original purpose 
as a factory.

In  November  1943,  a 
camp  with  about  1,500 
inmates was set up in a 
closed-down  weaving 
mill  in  Wüstewal-
tersdorf.  After  the 
camp’s evacuation made 
necessary  by  an  out-
break of typhoid fever 
in June 1944, a hospit-
al with 600 beds for OT 
employees replaced the 
camp.

The  camp  in  Ober-
wüstegiersdorf was also 
called  “Schotterwerk” 
(“gravel  mill”).  The 
400  to  500  prisoners 
kept there worked in a 
quarry  supplying  the 
construction  sites  at 
Säuferhöhen and Ramen-
berg. The ruins of the 
barracks  can  be  seen 
even today.

Camp Wolfsberg – situ-
ated  between  Hausdorf 
und Wüstewaltersdorf – 
was the largest camp of 
AL Riese. According to 
historical  sources, 
about  3,000  prisoners 
were  kept  there  in 
November 1944. They had 
to  do  excavation  work 
on the tunnels as well 
as  other  work  related 

to  construction  and 
transport of supplies. 
Many  of  the  inmates 
lived  in  tents,  i.e., 
their living conditions 
were  especially  hor-
rible  in  autumn  and 
winter. 612 deaths due 
to work accidents, ex-
haustion,  disease  and 
planned  execution  are 
known to have occurred 
in Wolfsberg. The camp 
was evacuated as early 
as February 1945. Ruins 
of the camp can still 
be found in the forest. 
Moreover,  there  is  a 
large number of petri-
fied cement sacks – re-
mains  of  the  camp’s 
former storerooms.

In  November  1944,  a 
central  infirmary  was 
set  up  in  Tannhausen; 
in contrast to the in-
firmary  in  Dörnhau  it 
was  reserved  for  pa-
tients  with  a  good 
chance of recovery. The 
patients were housed in 
four  brick  barracks. 
Although the infirmary 
was  officially  closed 
in  February  1945,  it 
still  remained  in  use 
until  the  end  of  the 
war. Three barracks are 
used today as residen-
tial  homes  and  a 
kindergarten. 

In  June  1944,  a  camp 
for about 800 prisoners 
was  set  up  in  the 
Märzbach  Valley  near 
Wüstegiersdorf.  The 
prisoners worked on the 
tunnel  at  Ramenberg. 
Here,  Dr  Rindfleisch 
performed selections as 
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well, 
leading to the deporta-
tion  of  about  30  in-
mates to Auschwitz. In 
October 1944, the com-
mander  of  “AL  Riese”, 
Lütkemeyer,  had  all 
prisoners under the age 
of  16  brought  to 
Märzbach Valley. These 
301 minors were depor-
ted  to  Auschwitz.  All 
over  the  local  area, 
some  remnants  of  the 
camp can still be seen 
today.

Between  the  camps  at 
Märzbach  Valley  and 
Kaltwasser, Camp Lärche 
was set up. Although it 
was built rather late – 
in December 1944 –, up 
to 2,000 prisoners were 
kept  there.  They  were 
used  for  construction 
work  on  the  Ramenberg 
part of Komplex Riese. 
The gradual closing of 
this camp already began 
in January 1945. Up un-
til today, remnants of 
buildings  and  streets 
remain visible.

Camp  Säuferwasser  was 
near Dörnhau. Set up in 
August 1944, about 500 
prisoners  were  kept 
here. Their task was to 
work on the tunnels on 
the  slope  of  the 
Säuferhöhen  and  the 
surrounding buildings.

Camp  Fürstenstein  was 
set up near the castle 
of the same name. Here, 
between  700  and  1,000 
prisoners  were  kept, 
who  were  mainly  used 
for excavation work 

underneath the castle. 
A  memorial  plaque 
points out the remain-
ing ruins of the camp.

Camp  Kaltwasser  was 
located  between  Ober-
wüstegiersdorf  and 
Kaltwasser. Starting in 
August  1944,  up  to 
2,000  prisoners  were 
kept there. The inmates 
were guarded by about a 
100 members of the SS 
who – according to wit-
nesses  –  did  not  re-
frain  from  violent 
acts.  The  camp  was 
closed  in  December 
1944.  Up  until  today, 
the foundations of sev-
eral  buildings  remain 
visible.

Camp  Falkenberg  was 
located  between  Lud-
wigsdorf  and  Falken-
berg. Up to 1,500 pris-
oners  were  kept  there 
who had to work on the 
local  tunnel  system. 
The camp was closed in 
February 1945. Ruins of 
the barracks can still 
be seen in the area.

Camp Erlenbusch was set 
up in May 1944 with a 
total  capacity  for  up 
to 500 prisoners. They 
were  responsible  for 
supplying  the  tunnels 
at Wolfsberg and Haus-
dorf with construction 
materials. In May 1945, 
the  SS  fled  from  the 
Red  Army,  leaving  the 
inmates behind. No vis-
ible  remnants  of  this 
camp remain.
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Bad Charlottenbrunn

Until the 18th century, 
Bad Charlottenbrunn – a 
village near Waldenburg 
– was part of the Duchy 
of Swidnica. 
During the Second World 
War, two different in-
stitutions  used  the 
fact  that  the  village 
was very close to the 
Owl  Mountains,  and  so 
the  local  17th century 
palace became the seat 
of  their  respective 
main administrations – 
first for the corpora-
tion called “Schlesis-
che Industriegemeinsch-
aft” (“Silesian Indus-
trial  Community”)  and 
then for the “Organisa-
tion  Todt.”.  In 
April/May  1944  a  sub-
camp – “AL Tannhausen” 
–  was  set  up  in  Bad 
Charlottenbrunn.  The 
first prisoners arriv-
ing at “AL Tannhausen” 
were Greek, Polish and 
Hungarian  Jews.  They 
worked  on  tunnels  and 
railways, and they also 
had to load and unload 
freight cars.

Führer  Headquarter 
“Riese”

Only after the invasion 
of Poland had begun in 
1939,  shelters  for 
political and military 
leaders  of  the  Third 
Reich were built. Since 
Adolf  Hitler  was  the 
political  as  well  as 
the military leader of 
Nazi  Germany,  all 

places where he and his 
inner circle of confid-
antes were supposed to 
be staying for a cer-
tain  amount  of  time 
were  called  Führer-
hauptquartiere (“Führer 
Headquarters”; FHQ for 
short) after 1938. Fur-
thermore,  the 
headquarter  was  the 
command centre for many 
military  decisions 
taken during the Second 
World War, all of which 
ultimately  had  to  be 
sanctioned  by  Hitler 
himself. During the in-
vasion of Poland Hitler 
reigned  and  gave  his 
orders  from  a  special 
train,  but  starting 
1939  a  growing  number 
of Führer Headquarters 
were built as more per-
manent bases of opera-
tions.  Construction 
began  on  20  Führer 
Headquarters,  not  all 
of which were finished, 
however. The best-known 
example  for  such  a 
Führer  Headquarter 
probably  is  the 
“Wolfsschanze”  (or 
“Wolf’s Lair”). Certain 
strategic features of a 
given site were crucial 
to the decision whether 
to build an FHQ there: 
it had to be connected 
to a traffic system and 
offer specific defence 
and  cover  options; 
moreover, a train sta-
tion  with  appropriate 
shelter for the special 
train had to be nearby. 
It also had to be close 
to  an  airport  and  it 
had to be connected to 
a long-distance 
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communications network 
(because it was neces-
sary to give direct or-
ders  and  also  receive 
the latest information 
on developments in the 
field).

Two authors – Franz W. 
Seidler and Dieter Zei-
gert – assume that the 
complex  in  the  Owl 
Mountains  is  a  Führer 
Headquarter whose con-
struction  was  never 
finished. They point to 
a  file  opened  by 
Siegfried  Schmelcher, 
the  architect  of  the 
complex; in this file – 
called “Geheime Reichs-
sache  91/44”  (“Secret 
Affair  of  the  Reich 
91/44)  –  Schmelcher 
compiled  data  and  in-
formation on all other 
FHQ previously built by 
the  Organisation Todt. 
Moreover,  Seidler  and 
Zeigert name the diar-
ies  of  Leo  Müller, 
Schmelcher’s represent-
ative,  as  further 
sources to prove their 
theory.
In September 1943, Min-
ister  of  Armaments 
Speer, OT head of oper-
ations  Dorsch  and  OT 
senior  construction 
manager Müller started 
talks  on  the  “Riese” 
project; in November of 
the  same  year,  con-
struction  efforts  in 
the  Owl  Mountains 
began. Judging from its 
location  it  was  sup-
posedly planned to be-
come a contingency fa-
cility  for  the 
Wolfsschanze.  From 

here, all operations in 
the east were to be co-
ordinated.  Plans  in-
cluded building subter-
ranean work and living 
spaces not only for the 
Führer Headquarter it-
self, but also for the 
“Oberkommando  des 
Heeres”  (OKH,  “Army 
High  Command”),  the 
“Oberkommando  der 
Luftwaffe”  (OKL,  “Air 
Force  High  Command”), 
the Reich Leader SS and 
the  Foreign  Minister. 
Additionally,  quarters 
for support and secur-
ity forces were to be 
created.  In  the  Owl 
Mountains,  there  were 
also plans for an un-
derground  industrial 
facility similar to the 
one in Mittelbau-Dora. 
The stated goal was to 
have  bomb-proof  work 
and living spaces until 
August 1945. The costs 
for the construction of 
this facility were es-
timated at 130 million 
Reichsmark – four times 
the sum invested in the 
creation  of  the 
Wolfsschanze.  All  un-
derground  facilities 
were at the top of the 
priority  list  for  the 
construction  effort. 
Komplex Riese went bey-
ond  the  scope  of  all 
earlier  projects  of  a 
comparable  nature.  It 
consisted of ten indi-
vidual,  self-contained 
facilities  on  an  area 
covering  more  than  10 
square kilometres, not 
including  Castle  Für-
stenstein  which  was 
also part of the 
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complex.
The  Owl  Mountains 
offered  an  excellent 
spot to build an FHQ. 
However, the region was 
not  connected  to  the 
telegraph network, with 
the  nearest  telegraph 
station  being  in  Sch-
weidnitz. Supply prob-
lems slowed work on the 
telegraph line down to 
a crawl. It can be as-
sumed  that  the  con-
struction  work  on  the 
buildings also suffered 
>from such shortfalls.
According  to  calcula-
tions,  an  average  of 
9500 workers would have 
been necessary to build 
the complex as planned. 
Furthermore,  359,100 
cubic  metres  of  con-
crete  were  needed.  If 
Riese  had  been  fin-
ished, this would have 
been the largest amount 
of  concrete  used  for 
any  FHQ.  The  entire 
complex  would  have 
covered  an  area  of 
194,232 square metres, 
with  the  bomb  shelter 
for the FHQ taking up 
about  5,000  square 
meters alone. The file 
mentioned  above  also 
contained  a  breakdown 
of  the  planned  mag-
nitude  for  Komplex 
Riese.  According  to 
this list, the facility 
was  designed  to  give 
shelter  to  27,244 
people.  The  actual 
blueprints  for  Riese, 
however,  have  been 
lost, making a detailed 
reconstruction  im-
possible. Only the rem-
nants  still  visible 

today  as  well  as  the 
sources mentioned above 
shed  at  least  some 
light on this construc-
tion project.

Fürstenstein

In 1943, the “Organisa-
tion  Todt”  moved  into 
Castle  Fürstenstein 
(the castle itself was 
built in the 13th cen-
tury)  to  use  it  as 
their  base  of  opera-
tions.  Extensive  re-
structuring  began  to 
prepare the castle for 
its role within Komplex 
Riese.  35  architects 
were  hired  for  this 
part of the project. At 
the instigation of the 
authorities  terraces 
and water conduits were 
destroyed,  granite 
portals smashed, stucco 
removed  and  furniture 
as  well  as  paintings 
taken  away.  The  rooms 
gained  the  rough  ap-
pearance  typical  for 
Nazi architecture. Huge 
tunnels  with  a  total 
length of up to 2 kilo-
metres  were  hewn  into 
the bedrock beneath the 
castle.  It  is  assumed 
that a railway from Lu-
biechow  to  the  castle 
was  planned.  In  front 
of  the  castle,  a  50 
metre  elevator  shaft 
was  dug  (the  elevator 
itself  was  never  in-
stalled, however). Ini-
tially,  restructuring 
work was done by civil 
workers  from  Italy; 
later,  prisoners  from 
“AL  Riese”  who  were 
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kept  near  the  castle 
were used. About 3,000 
people  worked  on  the 
restructuring of Castle 
Fürstenstein.  In  May 
1945,  the  castle  was 
occupied  by  Red  Army 
units. The Soviet sol-
diers,  who  remained 
stationed  at  Fürsten-
stein for more than a 
year, and Polish loot-
ers  completed  the 
castle’s destruction.

Groß-Rosen

Groß-Rosen  was  set  up 
as a work camp in the 
south  eastern  part  of 
Lower Silesia in August 
1940. Initially, it was 
only  a  satellite  camp 
for  KZ  Sachsenhausen. 
In  May  1941,  however, 
it became an independ-
ent concentration camp. 
Prisoners  had  to  work 
in nearby quarries. At 
that time, only a few 
hundred  inmates  were 
kept  there.  The  con-
struction of workshops 
for  well-known  German 
companies  within  the 
camp  as  well  as  the 
growing need for cheap 
labour  in  the  local 
area in general eventu-
ally led to the expan-
sion of Groß-Rosen. In 
autumn 1943, a work/re-
education camp for the 
Breslau  office  of  the 
Gestapo  reserved  for 
prisoners from KZ Aus-
chwitz was built on the 
grounds  of  KZ  Groß-
Rosen.  The  actual  ex-
pansion  of  the  camp, 
however, began in 1944. 
Inmates of prisons and 
camps in Poland as well 
as  Jewish  prisoners 
from  28  forced  labour 
camps in Upper Silesia 
(the latter previously 
having been run by the 
so-called  Organisation 
Schmelt) were detailed 
for  this  construction 
project. During the ex-
pansion, subcamps were 
built in Lower Silesia, 
in the Sudetes and in 
the region around Lub-
an. These camps were of 
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various sizes and they 
served various needs. A 
total  number  of  about 
125,000  prisoners  of 
various  nationalities 
passed  through  the 
Groß-Rosen camp system 
during  its  existence. 
The largest group among 
them were Jews – mainly 
from  Poland,  Hungary 
and  (what  is  today 
called) the former So-
viet Union; others were 
Czechs, Germans, Itali-
ans, Dutch and French. 
Among  the  Dutch  and 
French  inmates  were 
former  members  of  a 
resistance movement who 
had been arrested dur-
ing the Nazi operation 
called  “Nacht  und 
Nebel”  (“Night  and 
Fog”).
The  most  significant 
characteristic  of  KZ 
Groß-Rosen was the high 
percentage  of  female 
prisoners.  A  third  of 
all  camp  inmates  were 
Jewish  women  from  Po-
land  and  Hungary.  The 
prisoners  had  to  work 
on the expansion of the 
camp  or  in  quarries. 
They were also used in 
the arms industry, for 
the  construction  of 
fortifications  and  – 
especially  the  female 
prisoners – in the tex-
tile industry. The tra-
gic fate these prison-
ers  suffered  was  due 
to: slave labour, hor-
rible living conditions 
(sanitary  arrangements 
were  particularly 
poor),  malnutrition, 
and  a  total  lack  of 
even  the  most  basic 

medical care. All this 
led  to  outbreaks  of 
virulent diseases such 
as typhoid fever; and, 
of course, the inmates 
were constantly terror-
ized  by  the  many  re-
prisals of the guards. 
Moreover,  executions 
took place in the camp 
on a regular basis; in 
most  cases,  Soviet 
prisoners  of  war  who 
had  never  been  listed 
in  the  administration 
files of the camp were 
the  victims  of  these 
executions. About 2,500 
prisoners  of  war  were 
murdered sometime dur-
ing  winter  1941/42.  A 
total number of 40,000 
inmates  of  Groß-Rosen 
lost their lives due to 
executions, exhaustion, 
starvation,  diseases 
and general abuse. This 
number  includes  the 
victims  of  the  camp’s 
evacuation which began 
in  January  1945.  At 
that  time,  transports 
from Auschwitz started 
to arrive in KZ Groß-
Rosen.  All  prisoners 
from the main camp of 
Groß-Rosen and the in-
mates  of  the  subcamps 
east of the Oder were 
either  sent  on  death 
marches  to  the  south 
and the west or taken 
by train to other con-
centration camps. Those 
kept in satellite camps 
west of the Oder were 
freed by Red Army units 
in May 1945.
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Nazi Megalomania

Megalomania and gigan-
tomania feature promin-
ently in all aspects of 
the National Socialist 
regime;  they  are  most 
obvious in the official 
architecture,  in  city 
planning,  in  recre-
ational, industrial and 
military facilities, in 
the Autobahn and ulti-
mately in the creation 
of  the  concentration 
camps.
The most well-known ex-
ample for this mindset 
is  probably  Albert 
Speer’s plan for a “Re-
structuring  of  the 
Reich  Capital 
Germania”;  Berlin  was 
supposed  to  be  turned 
into a showcase of Nazi 
supremacy for the Ger-
man people as well as 
the  entire  world.  By 
using modern, yet stark 
architectural stylistic 
devices,  the  achieve-
ments  of  the  German 
economy  were  emphas-
ized. Giant monumental 
structures  were  de-
signed  to  express  the 
(supposed)  invincibil-
ity of the German armed 
forces, strength, cour-
age and the expansion-
ist outlook of National 
Socialism. By building 
huge  structures,  the 
regime aimed at awaken-
ing a strong sense of 
unity among the German 
people, allegedly ren-
dering any differences 
in social class obsol-
ete. At the same time, 
the authorities inten-
ded to implement a 

perpetual and everlast-
ing form of government 
by adhering strictly to 
the National Socialist 
Führerprinzip  (“prin-
ciple of leadership”).
As  they  were  being 
built  for  propaganda 
purposes, these struc-
tures had to be uniform 
and of almost unimagin-
able  size.  This  focus 
on dimensions typically 
believed  to  be  com-
pletely out of propor-
tion was also reflected 
in  the  plans  for  the 
intended  resettlement 
of  Eastern  Europe  as 
well  as  in  the  arma-
ments industry and vir-
tually any kind of con-
struction  effort.  It 
were  these  aspects  of 
Nazi  megalomania  in 
particular  that  could 
only be turned into ac-
tion  by  exploiting 
forced labourers.

Myths  about  “Komplex 
Riese”

Background:  Lower 
Silesia  was  barely 
touched by any military 
campaigns  during  the 
Second World War. When 
the  Red  Army  occupied 
the region in May 1945, 
they quickly took con-
trol of an area whose 
local  infrastructure 
had  remained  largely 
intact.  In  the  Owl 
Mountains,  many  ques-
tions  about  the  con-
struction  project 
called “Komplex Riese“ 
were asked, but most of 
them  could  not  be 
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answered.  One  reason 
for this were the mi-
grant  waves  taking 
place at that time: the 
former German inhabit-
ants of the region dis-
appeared,  while  new 
Polish  settlers  moved 
in who had not been in 
Lower  Silesia  during 
the war and were thus 
unable  to  give  any 
first-hand  information 
on the subject. Hence, 
all  the  necessary 
groundwork for the cre-
ation of myths had been 
done, and this general 
tendency  was 
strengthened  by  the 
fact that the area in 
question  remained 
sealed off by the mil-
itary even for a long 
time after the war.

Myth 1. The actual size 
of “Riese”. A 1944 mes-
sage  from  Speer  to 
Hitler gives reason to 
assume  that  the  con-
struction  project  in 
the  Owl  Mountains  had 
progressed considerably 
further  than  the  tun-
nels and facilities ac-
cessible  today.  Thus, 
legends and myths arose 
about other tunnel and 
shelter  systems  that 
are  yet  to  be  redis-
covered. These myths do 
not only imply that the 
entire complex is actu-
ally  much  larger,  but 
that  unknown  tunnels 
and  shelters  are  loc-
ated  somewhere  in  the 
mountainside.

Myth  2.  Possible  pur-
poses  of  “Riese”.  The 

question of the actual 
purpose  of  “Komplex 
Riese” is of great in-
terest  to  many  re-
searchers  and  a  large 
number  of  sensation-
seekers.  It  has  been 
the main source of con-
troversy about “Komplex 
Riese” and leaves room 
for many theories (some 
of which are absolutely 
absurd).  Several  of 
these  motifs  can  also 
be  found  in  Polish 
cinema.

a)  Work  on  a  “wonder 
weapon”: Many theories 
fall  into  this  cat-
egory. It is not known 
what  kind  of  wonder 
weapon was worked on – 
provided there actually 
ever was one. There as 
many  hypotheses  as 
there  are  researchers 
on this subject. Chem-
ical  and  biological 
weapons and even a nuc-
lear bomb have all been 
mentioned. In terms of 
a possible nuclear bomb 
being  developed  at 
“Komplex Riese”, there 
are entirely unsubstan-
tiated  reports  about 
the mining of uranium-
bearing  minerals  near 
Wüstegiersdorf and the 
presence of 120 Danish 
and  Norwegian  scient-
ists at the site.
Another  theory  speaks 
of  a  secret  research 
centre near Waldenburg. 
According to this idea, 
a new fighter plane was 
being tested there. Al-
legedly,  this  project 
was  known  under  the 
codename V-7.
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Yet  another  theory 
claims that the produc-
tion  of  V-1  and  V-2 
rockets was supposed to 
take place in the Owl 
Mountains.
Some researchers (with 
several  sensation-
seekers among them) as-
sume that the idea of a 
planned  Führer 
Headquarter was spread 
deliberately as a cover 
for the actual purpose 
of the complex. Adher-
ents  of  this  theory 
call the German histor-
ical  sources  on  the 
subject matter too ob-
vious  and  hence  en-
tirely unreliable.

b) Lost treasures from 
museums,  banks  or 
archives. Stories about 
“hidden treasures” are 
also immensely popular. 
Among these “treasures” 
are  the  still  missing 
depots  of  several  mu-
seums  and  banks,  such 
as the gold from Bre-
slau, the riches of the 
Silesian  noble  family 
von Schaffgotsch or the 
works of art stolen by 
the  Nazis  in  all 
European  nations  they 
had occupied. There are 
also rumours about the 
legendary  Amber  Room 
being hidden somewhere 
in  Castle  Bolkow  or 
Castle Fürstenstein.
A secret armoured train 
play an important role 
in  these  myths.  This 
train supposedly disap-
peared  under  unex-
plained  circumstances 
somewhere  between 
Freiburg and Waldenburg 

during  the  last  few 
weeks of the war. An-
other mystery is a tale 
repeated in several ac-
counts:  A  number  of 
lorries  under  heavy 
guard by the SS is said 
to  have  vanished  into 
thin  air  somewhere  in 
the  mountains  around 
Wüstewaltersdorf. Other 
reports  claim  that 
files from the archives 
of the Abwehr (a German 
intelligence  organisa-
tion)  were  stored  at 
Castle  Czocha;  these 
files  allegedly  con-
tained  documents  from 
French  counterintelli-
gence agencies.

Myth 3. The Keepers of 
Riese’s secrets:
a)  Werwolf  “Odessa.” 
Closely related to the 
legends mentioned above 
is the myth about a so-
ciety of persons guard-
ing the answers to the 
many  secrets  about 
“Komplex Riese” and the 
project’s true purpose. 
These  myths  focus  on 
groups  of  Germans  who 
were  either  involved 
with  an  operation 
called  Werwolf  (the 
plans for a clandestine 
resistance force organ-
ised by the regime) or 
members of independent 
underground  cells. 
These groups allegedly 
stayed  in  the  area 
after the war in order 
to  keep  military 
secrets  from  falling 
into the enemy’s hands.
Other  important  ele-
ments  of  these  myths 
are  the  disappearance 
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and unsolved murders of 
persons who had inform-
ation  on  “Riese”  they 
wanted  to  deliver  to 
the  new  authorities. 
Moreover, there are ac-
counts  of  mysterious 
night-time  explosions 
in  the  mountains;  in 
the myths, these explo-
sions were aimed at re-
moving  any  traces  of 
the subterranean vaults 
in the Owl Mountains.
Dispersed  groups  of 
Wehrmacht  soldiers  as 
well as members of the 
Waffen-SS, the Sicher-
heitsdienst  (the  Nazi 
secret service) and the 
NSDAP  were  active  in 
the Sudetes during the 
first few months after 
the war. Most of them 
were discovered and ar-
rested by agents of the 
Ministry of Public Se-
curity of Poland (Urzad 
Bezpieczenstwa  Pub-
licznego),  the  Cit-
izens’ Militia (Milicja 
Obywatelska)  or  the 
Polish  army  during 
winter 1945/46.
In the area around Sch-
weidnitz,  there  were 
about 10 people working 
for  the  German  under-
ground movement Freies 
Deutschland (“Free Ger-
many”).
In  connection  to  all 
these  theories,  there 
have also been rumours 
about  mass  executions 
of  “AL  Riese”  inmates 
during  the  last  few 
weeks  of  the  war  as 
well as about the dis-
mantlement of machinery 
and  facilities  within 
“Komplex  Riese”;  both 

kinds  of  activities 
were  allegedly  hushed 
up by the Germans. Ac-
cording to one of these 
hypotheses,  the  SS 
murdered  about  20,000 
prisoners  and  buried 
them  in  a  mass  grave 
that has not been dis-
covered  until  today. 
Such speculations focus 
on the camp in Wolfs-
berg  and  the  facility 
at  Dorfbach/Rzeczka 
near 
Wüstewaltersdorf/Walim. 
Historical  sources  do 
not  confirm  these  as-
sumptions, however.

b)  Engineer  Dalmus: 
Most of the obscurities 
and controversies about 
“Komplex  Riese”  are 
probably caused by the 
activities of a German 
engineer called Anthon 
Dalmus.  An  officer  of 
the German army, he had 
been stationed at Char-
lottenbrunn  with  the 
local bureau of the Or-
ganisation  Todt  since 
1940.  He  was  heavily 
involved  in  the  con-
struction  efforts  of 
the project and partic-
ularly  with  its  hasty 
cancellation. 
According  to  some  re-
searchers, Dalmus tried 
to give a very distinct 
image to anyone inter-
ested  in  “Komplex 
Riese” by deliberately 
spreading  manipulated 
information on the top-
ic. There is some evid-
ence  that  Dalmus  was 
connected  to  Werwolf 
and  presented  the  new 
authorities with 
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falsities  and  half-
truths  about  certain 
sites of particular im-
portance  to  the  Third 
Reich.  Immediately 
after  war,  he  had  no 
problems  entering  the 
former  construction 
site, thus potentially 
being  able  to  get  a 
very  clear  impression 
of local Polish activ-
ities.  He  met  with 
journalists,  taking 
them  on  tours  through 
the underground facil-
ities  and  explaining 
their purpose. There is 
even a rumour that the 
engineer wanted to sell 
the blueprints for the 
underground city to the 
Polish government for 1 
million zloty. 

Organisation Todt (OT)

The  Organisation  Todt 
is an institution cre-
ated in 1938 with the 
explicit  purpose  of 
military  engineering. 
It  was  named  after 
Fritz Todt, the General 
Commissioner  for  the 
Regulation of the Con-
struction  Industry. 
After the war had star-
ted, OT was mainly em-
ployed for construction 
projects  in  the  occu-
pied territories. Dur-
ing the war most milit-
ary  construction  pro-
jects – and eventually 
even  the  construction 
units of the Wehrmacht 
–  were  supervised  by 
OT.  Hundreds  of  thou-
sands of forced labour-
ers,  prisoners  of  war 

and KZ inmates had to 
work  on  construction 
sites. OT had a milit-
ary structure; its mem-
bers wore uniforms and 
they  were  part  of  a 
military chain of com-
mand. OT was one of the 
most important special-
ised  organisations 
within the National So-
cialist state. Largely 
independent of bureau-
cratic structures, in-
vested  with  consider-
able authority and sup-
plied with a workforce 
of forced labourers and 
KZ  prisoners,  OT  was 
highly  efficient  when 
it came to the execu-
tion of their construc-
tion projects. 

Silesia as former east-
ern  territory  of  the 
Reich

In  the  course  of  the 
last two centuries, the 
Polish  region  of 
Silesia  experienced 
several  changes  of 
rulership and belonged 
to  several  different 
nations.  After  the 
foundation of the Ger-
man Confederation cre-
ated by the Congress of 
Vienna in 1815, Silesia 
became a province under 
Prussian rule, with the 
city of Breslau as cap-
ital. With the end of 
the  First  World  War, 
extensive  political 
changes  occurred  in 
Europe,  due  to  which 
Silesia  was  given  to 
the two new nations of 
Poland and 
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Czechoslovakia. Follow-
ing some internal con-
flicts  about  national 
allegiances,  a  Polish 
part  of  Silesia  with 
Kattowitz  as  capital 
came  into  existence. 
Upper  and  Lower 
Silesia,  however,  re-
mained part of the Ger-
man  Empire.  After  the 
German  Wehrmacht  in-
vaded Poland in Septem-
ber  1939,  the  voivod-
ship Silesia was rein-
tegrated into the Ger-
man Empire. The end of 
World  War  II  in  1945 
again brought dramatic 
changes  for  Silesia: 
The region east of the 
Oder-Neiße line was in-
tegrated into nation of 
Poland.  The  predomin-
antly German population 
of  Upper  and  Lower 
Silesia,  fearing  the 
advancing  Red  Army, 
either fled westward or 
was expelled >from the 
area – first in a more 
arbitrary  manner,  and 
later systematically.

Forced  Labour  in  the 
Third Reich

Between  1939  and  1945 
there  were  about  12 
million forced labour-
ers in the Third Reich. 
They  can  be  divided 
into  several  distinct 
categories:  foreign 
civil workers, prison-
ers of war, KZ inmates 
and so-called “Arbeits-
juden” (“working Jews”; 
this term was used for 
people kept in ghettos 
and Jewish KZ 

prisoners). The status 
of these persons could 
be  subject  to  change, 
however:  for  example, 
prisoners  of  war  were 
declared to be foreign 
civil  workers  so  that 
the protection offered 
by  the  Geneva  Conven-
tions no longer applied 
to them; foreign civil 
workers often became KZ 
inmates; other foreign 
civil  workers  who  had 
initially come to Ger-
many of their own free 
will  were  later  offi-
cially assigned to com-
pulsory  services,  ef-
fectively turning them 
in to forced labourers.
Forced  labour  is 
defined  by  two  major 
criteria: the fact that 
a  worker  cannot  leave 
his job for an undeter-
mined  period  of  time 
and  the  inability  to 
influence one’s working 
conditions in any note-
worthy way. Within this 
broad and very general 
definition  of  forced 
labour, many varieties 
and  different  degrees 
of oppression are pos-
sible. Therefore, four 
categories  of  forced 
labour have been estab-
lished  in  historical 
science  when  it  comes 
to the Third Reich:
1. Foreign civil work-
ers who had voluntarily 
come  to  Germany  could 
leave  the  Reich  after 
their contract had ex-
pired (workers from na-
tions allied with Nazi 
Germany such as Italy, 
Romania, Bulgaria, Hun-
gary, Slovakia, 
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Croatia,  Denmark  and 
Spain;  workers  from 
West  or  South  Europe; 
most of them had come 
to  Germany  during  the 
first half of the war).
2.  Compulsory  labour-
ers:  They  had  only  a 
very limited influence 
on their working condi-
tions and their mortal-
ity  rate  was  only 
slightly  higher  than 
that of normal workers 
(civil workers from oc-
cupied  territories 
which did not belong to 
Poland  or  Soviet  Rus-
sia;  prisoners  of  war 
from  Great  Britain, 
Belgium,  France  and 
Yugoslavia).
3.  Forced  labourers 
with limited influence 
on their working condi-
tions  and  a  signific-
antly  higher  rate  of 
mortality (civil work-
ers from Poland and the 
Soviet Union, non-Jew-
ish Polish prisoners of 
war and Italian Milit-
ary Internees; Italian 
Military  Internees 
(“Italienische  Mil-
itärinternierte”  or 
IMI) were Italians who 
refused  to  fight  on 
Hitler’s  side  as  Mus-
solini  did.  They  were 
not  counted  among  the 
prisoners  of  war  so 
that they would not be 
protected by the Geneva 
Conventions).
4.  Forced  labourers 
with absolutely no in-
fluence on their work-
ing  conditions  and  a 
drastically higher mor-
tality rate (prisoners 
of war >from the Soviet 

Union and Polish Jews, 
KZ  prisoners,  inmates 
of  work/re-education 
camps  and  so-called 
“working Jews”).

After  1941,  the  man-
power  shortage  in  the 
German economy was im-
mense. Fewer and fewer 
foreign  civil  workers 
volunteered  to  go  to 
Germany, and a growing 
number of German work-
ers  were  sent  to  the 
frontlines of the war. 
Therefore, more desper-
ate measures in the re-
cruitment  of  foreign 
workers  were  taken, 
eventually resulting in 
the  deportation  of 
people  from  the  occu-
pied  territories.  The 
German  economy  only 
held its ground because 
of foreign workers and 
the exploitation of KZ 
prisoners.
KZ inmates were used as 
forced  labour  right 
after  the  implementa-
tion of the KZ system. 
From  1933  to  1936, 
forced  labour  was 
primarily  seen  as  a 
means of punishment and 
humiliation,  however. 
Starting in 1937 – when 
after a brief period of 
full  employment  the 
shortage of labour set 
in –, the SS tried to 
gain  its  own  foothold 
in  German  economy  by 
exploiting the inmates 
as  a  cheap  source  of 
labour. In 1942, the SS 
began  to  lend  workers 
to  the  armaments  in-
dustry and several oth-
er branches of industry 
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on a grand scale. Most 
of  the  fees  the  in-
dustry paid to the SS 
for getting the prison-
ers actually came from 
the budget of the Reich 
Ministry  of  Finance. 
Modelled  after  the 
camps  that  had  been 
built for the prisoners 
of  war,  so-called 
“Außenlager” (subcamps) 
were  built  to  ensure 
that the forced labour-
ers were kept in close 
vicinity  to  their  re-
spective  work  places. 
The camps were guarded 
by members of the SS. 
Living and working con-
ditions in these satel-
lite  camps  varied 
greatly. The SS did not 
pay  attention  whether 
the  prisoners  of  the 
satellite  camps  lived 
in acceptable quarters. 
Food  rations  for  the 
inmates  were  reduced 
twice in 1944; the food 
supply for Jewish pris-
oners was particularly 
bad. A cruel method to 
increase the efficiency 
of  individual  inmates 
was  the  so-called 
“Leistungsernährung” 
(or “efficiency diet”) 
– if a prisoner worked 
more  efficiently,  he 
was  handed  out  addi-
tional food; food that 
was in turn taken from 
the  rations  of  other, 
less efficient inmates. 
The  longer  the  war 
raged,  the  harder  it 
became  to  supply  the 
prisoners with clothes, 
and  the  sanitary  ar-
rangements  in  the 
satellite  camps  were 

also  horrible.  Even 
after the liberation of 
the KZ and their sub-
camps, many former in-
mates  died  from  the 
long-term  consequences 
of forced labour.
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BIOGRAPHIES

Prisoners in “AL Riese”

Murray Bilfeld

Murray Bilfeld was born 
in  Krakow/Poland  in 
1919 under the name of 
Manek Bilfeld. He spent 
his childhood years in 
Krakow, leaving school 
in 1934.
After the German inva-
sion he tried to escape 
from being drafted into 
the Polish army, but he 
nevertheless  returned 
to  Krakow  shortly  af-
terwards.  In  1940  he 
and his family had to 
move to the local Jew-
ish  ghetto,  where  he 
first  worked  as  a 
street  cleaner  and 
later as a car mechan-
ic.
From  1942  until  the 
ghetto’s  evacuation, 
Murray Bilfeld lived on 
his own, as his entire 
family had been depor-
ted by then. After the 
evacuation, Murray Bil-
feld  was  kept  at  KZ 
Krakau-Plaszow  until 
May 1943, when he was 
brought  to  KZ  Groß-
Rosen. There, he worked 
as a car mechanic, and 
because of his special 
skills  he  was  trans-
ferred  to  Wüstegi-
ersdorf which he calls 
a “pleasant camp.” As a 
labourer for the Organ-
isation  Todt  he  could 
occasionally spend some 
time outside the camp, 
which was a great re-

lief to him. In Febru-
ary 1945 he was depor-
ted from Wüstegiersdorf 
to  Flossenbürg,  from 
where he was transpor-
ted  to  several  other 
camps before eventually 
being liberated. After 
his  liberation,  he 
first lived in Munich, 
but  he  then  emigrated 
to New York City where 
he  became  a  textile 
merchant  and  started 
his own family.
(Source: Visual History 
Archive  of  the  USC 
Shoah  Foundation;  In-
terview Code: 15333)

Leon Weintraub

Leon Weintraub was born 
on  1  January  1926  in 
Lodz/Poland. After his 
father’s death in 1927, 
his mother had to raise 
Leon and his sisters on 
her own which was not 
an easy task. 
Leon  Weintraub  remem-
bers  the  invasion  of 
the German Wehrmacht on 
1  September  1939  very 
vividly,  as  shortly 
after  the  invasion  a 
ghetto  for  the  Jewish 
population of Lodz was 
set up. In Winter 1939, 
the  Weintraub  family 
had  to  move  to  the 
ghetto.  13-year  old 
Leon could visit school 
regularly until summer 
1940, before he had to 
start to work as an ap-
prentice in autumn 1940 
(first for a metalwork-
er,  and  later  for  a 
plumber).

23



In  1943,  the  Germans 
started evacuating the 
ghetto  and  deporting 
the local residents to 
concentration  camps. 
Weintraub’s family man-
aged  several  times  to 
hide from German offi-
cials, but in the end 
they  were  deported  in 
August 1944.
Leon Weintraub was se-
lected for a transport 
from Lodz to Auschwitz-
Birkenau, where he was 
separated from the rest 
of his family. 
A  short  time  later, 
Leon  Weintraub  was 
transferred to Wüstegi-
ersdorf and from there 
to  Kolce,  where  he  – 
“the only available ex-
pert” – had to work as 
an electronics techni-
cian for the Organisa-
tion  Todt.  He  had  to 
walk 5 km to his work-
ing  place  every  day, 
i.e.  the  place  he 
worked  in  must  have 
been very close to one 
of the local tunnel and 
shelter systems. Due to 
his talent as a techni-
cian  and  his  useful-
ness, Leon enjoyed sev-
eral  privileges,  in-
cluding larger food ra-
tions.
His  most  vivid  memory 
of his time at Kolce is 
that of a visit to the 
town of Waldenburg with 
one of the guards. This 
was the only time dur-
ing his entire impris-
onment that he actually 
left one of the camps 
(except  for  his  daily 
marches to work).
Leon Weintraub remained 

at Kolce until February 
1945.  He  was  then 
transferred  to  KZ 
Flossenbürg  and  later 
deported  to  several 
other camps during the 
evacuations  of  the  KZ 
camp  system.  On  the 
death march from Offen-
burg to Donaueschingen 
Leon managed to escape 
and saw Donaueschingen 
liberated by the Allied 
Forces. 
Due to his physical ex-
haustion  –  his  weight 
had dropped to only 35 
kg and he was diagnosed 
with  typhoid  fever  – 
Leon  was  allowed  to 
stay in a French sanat-
orium  until  summer 
1945.
After the war he went 
to a German university 
to become a physician, 
and he returned to Po-
land as a gynaecologist 
together with his wife 
in 1951.
As  a  reaction  to  the 
growing  anti-Semitism 
in  Poland,  Leon  Wein-
traub  and  his  family 
moved to Sweden in the 
late 1960s.
(Source: Visual History 
Archive  of  the  USC 
Shoah  Foundation;  In-
terview Code: 26999)

Laszlo Steiner

Laszlo Steiner was born 
on  10  July  1925  in 
Sopron/Hungary. He had 
a  large  family;  his 
parents  owned  a  brick 
factory  and  were  very 
religious  orthodox 
Jews.
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Laszlo Steiner went to 
a Talmud school to get 
familiar  with  Jewish 
religion. He was active 
in the Zionist movement 
and collected donations 
for  buying  land  in 
Palestine.  His  father 
wanted him to become an 
engineer so that Laszlo 
could  take  over  the 
family business. Being 
a Jew, Laszlo was not 
allowed to go to uni-
versity.  Instead,  he 
visited  a  business 
school in Sopron where 
he  got  his  degree  in 
1943.
In 1943, Laszlo Steiner 
left Sopron to study at 
a private arts academy 
in  Budapest.  While  he 
was in Budapest, German 
forces invaded Hungary 
in 1944. When he tried 
to return to his family 
in Sopron, he is arres-
ted at the train sta-
tion. He never sees his 
father again.
In  March  and  April 
1944, he was kept in a 
camp that fell under SS 
administration in late 
April  1944.  Via  Aus-
chwitz he came to the 
“AL Riese” at Wüstegi-
ersdorf.  He  reports 
that  he  only  had  a 
straw-filled  wooden 
crate as a bed – which 
he  had  to  share  with 
one  of  the  other  in-
mates. Blankets always 
were  stolen  again  and 
again. There were con-
flicts  between  the 
Poles and the Hungari-
ans in the camp. Living 
conditions  were  bad. 
Sanitary  arrangements 

were so poor that dis-
eases spread among the 
inmates.
The  prisoners  had  to 
get up at five o’clock 
in  the  morning,  and 
they  had  to  be  ready 
for roll call at six, 
before  their  work  day 
started  at  seven.  His 
job  was  to  unload 
freight  trains  at  the 
station.  As  Laszlo 
Steiner had been a stu-
dent before, he was not 
used  to  hard  labour, 
and he had a very hard 
time lifting the heavy 
rails.  He  also  talked 
about  having  to  carry 
cement bags. 
As a member of the work 
group  in  the  station, 
you stood at least the 
small chance to be giv-
en  some  bread  by  the 
villagers.  During  a 
half-hour  lunch  break 
at noon, all that was 
handed out was a thin 
broth. During the day, 
you  were  given  four 
slices of bread, while 
in  the  evening  all 
there  was  to  eat  was 
again  the  thin  broth 
you  knew  from  lunch. 
When  working  outside 
the camp, prisoners oc-
casionally  tried  to 
steal  beets  and  roots 
from  the  fields.  When 
he  broke  his  foot, 
Laszlo Steiner was giv-
en  no  medical  care 
whatsoever.
When the camp command-
ers  were  replaced, 
Laszlo  Steiner  became 
the camp’s sculptor, as 
he had managed to im-
press the new 
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commanders  with  a 
sculpture had made as a 
birthday  present  for 
one  of  them.  During 
this  time,  his  living 
conditions  improved  a 
bit. However, the camp 
commanders changed yet 
again,  and  not  only 
were  Laszlo’s  priv-
ileges revoked, but he 
was also transferred to 
a work group with par-
ticularly  exhausting 
tasks  where  he  was 
treated very badly.
When Laszlo Steiner met 
old acquaintances from 
Hungary in the camp and 
they told him about the 
mass  deportations,  he 
lost all hope of ever 
seeing  his  family 
again.
Laszlo Steiner remained 
at  Wüstgiersdorf  from 
May  1944  to  January 
1945.  Afterwards,  he 
was  sent  via  Flossen-
bürg  and  Crawinkel  to 
Buchenwald.  There  he 
learned that his family 
had lost their lives at 
Buchenwald. He survived 
KZ  Buchenwald,  which 
was liberated by Amer-
ican troops.
After  the  liberation, 
he found out that his 
mother had survived in 
Ravensbrück.  He  fell 
ill with typhoid fever 
and returned to Sopron; 
his old house had been 
destroyed and the fam-
ily’s  factory  closed 
down. Slowly, he star-
ted  to  rebuild  the 
factory.
In  Communist  Hungary, 
however,  he  was  again 
confronted with 

anti-Semitic prejudice. 
To  continue  his  arts 
studies he handed man-
agement of the factory 
over  to  a  cousin  and 
went to Budapest. After 
the  Communists  gained 
power  in  Hungary  and 
his factory was seized 
by  the  state,  Laszlo 
Steiner  moved  to  Vi-
enna,  from  where  he 
emigrated  to  Brazil 
with his wife. In the 
early  1950s,  he  re-
turned to Austria as a 
ceramist.  A  few  years 
later  he  left  Europe 
again;  this  time  he 
settled  in  the  USA 
where worked for Gener-
al  Motors  until  the 
late 1980s. He returned 
to  Vienna  where  he 
still lives today.
Laszlo  Steiner  is 
shocked  to  this  day 
about having had to ex-
perience how people can 
give up all their most 
human  qualities  for 
reasons of pure surviv-
al.  He  would  like  to 
see  a  future  where 
people  appreciate  one 
another for their human 
qualities  and  not  be-
cause of their nation-
ality or ethnicity. To 
see this future come to 
pass he thinks it ne-
cessary  for  people  to 
get to know each other 
better and share their 
thoughts  and  experi-
ences.  Then,  so  he 
thinks, the differences 
between  nations  and 
peoples would vanish.
(Source: Visual History 
Archive  of  the  USC 
Shoah Foundation;
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(Interview Code: 44690) Kiva Weinberger

Kiva  Weinberger  was 
born on 2 February 1930 
in  Encs/Hungary.  His 
father, a rabbi, owned 
a  clothes  shop.  Kiva 
Weinberger grew up in a 
very religious environ-
ment.
He was confronted with 
a latent form of anti-
Semitism  in  his  home 
town.
Kiva Weinberger was de-
ported  in  1944.  Via 
Auschwitz-Birkenau  he 
came to Dörnau. He men-
tions the horrible con-
ditions in the infirm-
ary  and  how  people 
starved or kept working 
although  they  were 
sick,  since  they  were 
afraid of being killed 
if they did not work. 
Kiva  Weinberger  could 
barely  walk,  but  he 
forced  himself  every 
single  day  to  do  the 
hard work.
After  the  war  he  re-
turned  shortly  to  his 
home, which he left to 
emigrate  to  Italia. 
From there he moved to 
Montreal where opened a 
travel agency in 1949. 
He  still  lives  in 
Montreal and Miami.
Kiva  Weinberger  says 
his  life  has  been 
greatly  influenced  by 
these experiences. His 
life  can  be  divided 
into  two  separate 
pieces: before the war 
and after the war.
He also says: “Nazis is 
an invented word, they 
are Germans. And these 
are murderers, not 
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human beings.”
(Source: Visual History 
Archive  of  the  USC 
Shoah  Foundation;  In-
terview Code: 18684)

Eli Sommer

Eli Sommer was born on 
2 April 1919 in Tarnow 
in southern Poland. At 
only 12 years of age he 
became an active member 
of  the  Zionist  move-
ment;  he  wanted  to 
emigrate  to  Palestine 
as  soon  as  he  had 
turned 16, but in order 
to do so he would have 
needed  to  finish 
school.
Eli  Sommer  fled  from 
the German Wehrmacht to 
Lemberg  in  today’s 
Ukraine,  but  returned 
to his family in Tar-
now,  because  he  was 
even more afraid of the 
Soviet army. He had to 
move  to  the  ghetto 
which  was  set  up  at 
Tarnow in 1942. During 
the  ghetto’s  eventual 
evacuation he lost his 
entire family. In 1944, 
Eli Sommer was deported 
first  to  KZ  Krakau-
Plaszow  and  then  to 
Groß-Rosen.  There,  he 
became part of a trans-
port to Wüstegiersdorf 
where he and the other 
inmates – most of them 
Hungarian  Jews  –  were 
housed in an old por-
celain factory.
Eli  Sommer  worked  for 
the  Organisation  Todt 
for nine months; he was 
responsible for loading 
and unloading the lor-

ries which allowed him 
to  have  a  “more  and 
more luxurious” time at 
camp Wüstegiersdorf. 
In February 1945 he was 
deported to Flossenbürg 
from  where  he  was 
forced  to  participate 
in  several  death 
marches.
After  his  liberation, 
he  stayed  in  Germany 
for another year before 
emigrating to the USA.
(Source: Visual History 
Archive  of  the  USC 
Shoah  Foundation;  In-
terview Code: 22582)

Alex Olson

Alex Olson was born on 
6  March  1927  in 
Waldyslawow/Poland. The 
youngest  child  of  a 
poor family, he grew up 
in a small village.
His father was a tailor 
and  the  family  basic-
ally  survived  on  what 
they  could  grow  in 
their  own  garden.  In 
school, Alex felt dis-
criminated against be-
cause  he  was  not  al-
lowed  to  attend  class 
on  Saturdays  and  was 
thus clearly marked as 
being  Jewish.  He  was 
often  called  “dirty 
Jew” and beaten up by 
other  children.  The 
family  is  the  target 
anti-Semitic acts: They 
have to wear the yellow 
Star  of  David,  the 
father  has  to  close 
down  his  shop  due  to 
anti-Jewish  boycotts 
and they have to leave 
their  house  and  move 
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into an apartment with 
only a single room. In 
1941, at age 14, Alex 
Olson  is  deported.  He 
never  saw  his  parents 
again.
When  he  was  separated 
from  his  brother  in 
1943, his cousin is the 
only  remaining  person 
in the camps he knows 
from his old village.
Via  Auschwitz  he  came 
to  Wüstegiersdorf.  He 
worked  for  a  cement 
factory and points out 
the brutal behaviour of 
the local guards. Every 
morning at four o’clock 
all inmates had to be 
ready  for  roll  call; 
there  were  no  excep-
tions  made,  not  even 
for  prisoners  who  had 
fallen  ill.  It  was 
sheer  luck  that  Alex 
Olson survived his time 
in the camp.
He also speaks about a 
particular event during 
one of the roll calls. 
One  man  was  missing. 
Until he was found, all 
other prisoners had to 
stand  in  the  camp’s 
main yard. It took 48 
hours until the escapee 
had  been  tracked  down 
the  escapee  by  blood-
hounds and executed.
Alex Olson remained in 
Wüstegiersdorf  until 
December  1944.  After-
wards, he was deported 
via  Mauthausen  to  Er-
lensee.  From  Italy  he 
emigrated  to  the  USA 
where  he  still  lives 
today.
He  says  he  can  never 
forget his experiences, 
although  he  does  not 

talk about them. Up un-
til  today  he  feels  a 
deep  hatred  when  he 
hears anyone speak Pol-
ish or German.
(Source: Visual History 
Archive  of  the  USC 
Shoah  Foundation;  In-
terview Code: 4104)

Perpetrators

Xaver Dorsch

Xaver  Dorsch  (1899  – 
1986) is only one ex-
ample  for  many  engin-
eers working for Hitler 
who could never be con-
victed  of  crimes 
against  humanity  or 
other trespasses after 
1945.  Although  Dorsch 
was highly decorated by 
the  Nazi  regime  (he 
gained  the  War  Merit 
Cross, the Blood Order 
of  the  NSDAP,  the 
Golden  Party  Badge, 
etc.),  he  had  a  suc-
cessful  career  after 
the  war  –  first  with 
the  Allies,  then  in 
West German and eventu-
ally even international 
economy.
In  connection  with 
“Komplex Riese” Dorsch 
is of considerable im-
portance  as  he  became 
director of the Organ-
isation Todt headquar-
ters in Berlin in 1941; 
when Albert Speer took 
charge of OT in 1942, 
Dorsch  kept  a  high-
ranking  position  as 
Speer’s representative. 
The  Organisation  Todt 
was  charged  with  the 
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construction project in 
the  Owl  Mountains  in 
November  1944. 
Moreover, Dorsch was a 
rival  of  Speer’s  when 
it  came  to  courting 
Hitler’s  favour  (see 
Inside the Third Reich 
by  Albert  Speer  for 
more  information  on  a 
plot  instigated  by 
Göring  and  involving 
Dorsch in 1943 – Dorsch 
had been a party member 
since the 1920s, while 
Speer had not). 
On 29 April 1944, Speer 
promoted  Principal 
Dorsch to the position 
of  head  director  and 
chief  manager  of  the 
OT; thus, Dorsch became 
responsible for the de-
ployment of forced la-
bourers  in  the  entire 
Reich and the occupied 
territories.

Heinrich  Friedrich 
Rindfleisch

Heinrich  Rindfleisch 
was  born  on  3  March 
1916  in  Strassburg. 
After  the  First  World 
War, the German Empire 
relinquished the region 
of  Alsace-Lorraine  in 
compliance  with  the 
Treaty  of  Versailles, 
and  the  Rindfleisch 
family moved to Berlin.
In  1935,  Rindfleisch 
went  to  Humboldt  Uni-
versity  in  Berlin  in 
order to become a phys-
ician. In 1942, he ob-
tained his medical li-
cense.
Rindfleisch had already 
joined the SS in 1938 

and now took up basic 
training with a medical 
replacement  corps  of 
the Waffen-SS. Suffer-
ing  >from  a  visual 
impairment, he was de-
ployed as a camp phys-
iscian;  in  1941,  he 
worked  at  KZ  Sachsen-
hausen before being re-
deployed  to  the  men’s 
camp of KZ Ravensbrück.
In 1943, he became as-
sistant camp physician 
at  KZ  Majdanek  near 
Lublin.  Although  no 
medical  experiments 
took place in this camp 
officially, Rindfleisch 
conducted  his  own  ex-
periments  on  the  in-
mates.  He  was  also 
heavily involved in the 
selection  process  of 
the prisoners.
Fearing  the  advancing 
Red Army in the east, 
KZ Majdanek was evacu-
ated  and  Rindfleisch 
deployed  at  KZ  Groß-
Rosen. There, he parti-
cipated  in  executions 
(particularly  in  the 
subcamps  of  “AL 
Riese”).
After  the  war  he  was 
able  to  continue  his 
medical career without 
any problems. As early 
as 1946 he applied for 
a  job  at  a  surgical 
ward in a Berlin hos-
pital – under his real 
name and mentioning the 
time he had served in 
the  SS  from  1942  to 
1945.  Eventually,  he 
moved to the Ruhr Area.
Rindfleisch  died  in 
1969 without ever hav-
ing been held respons-
ible  for  his  actions. 
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The so-called Majdanek 
Case  finally  came  to 
court  in  Düsseldorf 
(lasting  from  1975  to 
1981), and Rindfleisch 
was  named  one  of  the 
main perpetrators.
(from:  Pukrop,  Marco: 
“Dr.  Med.  Heinrich 
Rindfleisch.  Eine  La-
gerarztkarriere  im  KZ 
Majdanek.“ In: Lenarc-
zyk,  Wojciech  (Ed.): 
KZ-Verbrechen.  Beiträ-
ge  zur  Geschichte  der 
nationalsozialisti-
schen  Konzentrations-
lager  und  ihrer  Erin-
nerung.  Berlin,  2002. 
p. 33-52)

Albert Speer

Albert  Speer  was  born 
on  19  March  1905  in 
Mannheim.  He  studied 
architecture at Karls-
ruhe, Munich and Berlin 
and  worked  as  an  as-
sistant professor after 
gaining his degree. In 
1931, he joined the NS-
DAP and the SA, opening 
an architectural prac-
tice  at  Mannheim. 
Starting  in  1932,  he 
was  contracted  by  the 
NSDAP with several pro-
jects,  and  from  1934 
on,  he  was  active  as 
planner  and  architect 
of  a  large  number  of 
giant Nazi construction 
projects. In 1938/39 he 
developed  the  master 
plan  for  the  restruc-
turing  of  Berlin  into 
the world capital “Ger-
mania.” After the start 
of  the  Second  World 
War, Speer was working 

on a growing number of 
military structures. In 
February  1942,  he  be-
came Minister of Arma-
ments  and  War  Produc-
tion, effectively being 
responsible for the en-
tire  war  economy.  He 
reorganized  the  arms 
industry  according  to 
the  principle  of  the 
so-called  “total  war 
economy.” Speer’s man-
agement of the war eco-
nomy was based primar-
ily  on  the  deployment 
of forced labourers and 
KZ  prisoners.  He  was 
working  closely  with 
Heinrich  Himmler  and 
the SS. 
After  the  war,  Speer 
was  arrested  and  sen-
tenced to twenty years 
in  prison  during  the 
Nuremberg Trials. After 
his  release,  he  wrote 
several  apologetic 
books and articles. He 
died  on  1  September 
1981 in London.

Fritz Todt

Fritz Todt was born 4 
September  1891  in 
Pforzheim. In the First 
World War, Todt served 
as  an  officer  and  an 
observer with the air-
force.  After  having 
finished his engineer-
ing studies in 1921, he 
worked on hydroelectric 
power  plants  and  in 
road construction. Todt 
had  been  a  member  of 
the  NSDAP  since  the 
early  1920s.  In  1931, 
he  became  Oberführer 
(senior colonel) in the 
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SA; after Adolf Hitler-
’s rise to chancellor-
ship,  Fritz  Todt  was 
named Inspector General 
for German Roadways. He 
was responsible for the 
construction  of  the 
Reichsautobahnen  (a 
system  of  motorways), 
and Hitler was his dir-
ect superior. In 1938, 
he became General Com-
missioner for the Regu-
lation of the Construc-
tion  Industry  and  was 
now  responsible  for 
virtually all construc-
tion  projects  within 
the Third Reich. In or-
der  to  build  the 
Siegfried Line (“West-
wall”),  Todt  created 
the so-called Organisa-
tion Todt by coordinat-
ing and joining togeth-
er  government  firms, 
state companies and the 
Reich  Labor  Service 
(“Reichsarbeitsdienst” 
or  RAD,  for  short). 
During the war a grow-
ing  number  of  forced 
labourers  were  de-
ployed.  In  1940,  Todt 
was named Reich Minis-
ter  for  Armament  and 
Munition,  thus  being 
responsible for the war 
economy  and  the  con-
struction  of  the  At-
lantic  Wall.  In  1941, 
he became General Com-
missioner for Water and 
Energy. Growing doubts 
about the Reich’s abil-
ity to win the war led 
to  conflicts  with  the 
leaders of the regime, 
including Hitler. On 8 
February  1942,  Fritz 
Todt  died  in  a  plane 
crash  near  the  Führer 

Headquarter at Rasten-
burg  (East  Prussia). 
Some researchers assume 
that  the  plane  crash 
could  have  actually 
been part of an assas-
sination  plot  sanc-
tioned  by  Hitler. 
Posthumously, he became 
the first holder of the 
German Order. His suc-
cessor  as  Minister  of 
Armaments  was  Albert 
Speer.
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SOURCES

Memories  of  a  German 
Wüstegiersdorf Resident

… We didn’t learn where 
the  Russian  prisoners 
worked  for  quite  some 
time.  They  were  led 
from  behind  the  train 
station towards Wolfs-
berg, and so they van-
ished  from  our  sight. 
There  were  rumours  in 
the  village  that  they 
were planning to build 
a  new  Führer 
Headquarter  close  to 
us, and the region cer-
tainly would have been 
a good spot for that, 
with all the mountains 
and the vast forests. …
In  early  1943  I 
happened  to  see  a 
freight train arriving 
at  the  station.  Hun-
dreds of strange people 
were  getting  off  that 
train. In striped suits 
and matching caps. They 
were  led  uphill  from 
behind  the  train  sta-
tion  almost  at  once, 
towards  Uhlenburg  and 
Wolfsburg,  just  like 
the  others  before.  It 
took us a few weeks to 
realize  who  these 
people  were  and  what 
they were doing here. …
In  Summer  1943,  these 
people with the striped 
suits all of a sudden 
appeared  in  our  vil-
lage.  They  started  to 
dig  trenches  on  the 
main street, for laying 
cables.  They  also  did 
that  on  Gartenstraße. 
We had to walk across a 

wooden  board  from  our 
front door to the actu-
al street, and in the 
trench below us, we saw 
these men. Some of them 
were very young, almost 
children. Just skin and 
bone, in thin clothes. 
They wrapped themselves 
in empty cement bags in 
autumn and winter. Now 
we  learned  that  these 
people were Jews; Jews 
from  all  kinds  of 
places.  Seeing  these 
poor, oppressed people, 
who  were  often  worked 
to death, we villagers 
felt  deep  pity  for 
them. threw as often as 
possible. We – I mean 
the  people  from  the 
house  I  lived  in  – 
threw  clothes,  socks, 
underwear,  shirts  and 
most  often  bread  in 
those trenches as often 
as we could. You always 
had to be on the look-
out for OT guards and 
Kapos – guards that the 
Jews  had  chosen  among 
themselves.  While  the 
Jews  were  working  on 
the main street of our 
village, I used to give 
rolls  to  a  boy  –  he 
could  not  have  been 
older than 14. I always 
got  those  rolls  from 
Mister John, the baker, 
from whom I would pick 
them  up  at  a  certain 
time in the morning. I 
did  not  know  at  that 
time how dangerous this 
was for me. We also had 
the Gestapo in the vil-
lage  now,  and  their 
agents were wearing ci-
vilian clothes, so you 
never knew if you were 
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being  watched.  I  also 
have  to  disagree  very 
strongly  with  the  no-
tion that we knew about 
the  Jews,  the  concen-
tration camps and what 
happened there. We were 
told  that  we  had  to 
know about these things 
time  and  again  after 
the war. But no, we did 
not  know  about  all 
that. How could we have 
known?  We  only  heard 
what  the  government 
wanted us to hear. We 
heard all the news in 
such a manner that we 
could not know what was 
happening  in  the  war, 
in Russia, in the occu-
pied  territories.  On 
Monday evenings, we al-
ways  had  a  rehearsal 
for  the  church  choir; 
Rector  Kerner  was  not 
yet a soldier at that 
time. On one of those 
Mondays, it was almost 
8 o’clock, I was on my 
way  to  the  rehearsal 
with Ms. Christoph – we 
were  living  together. 
There  were  spotlights 
at the Stengel Bridge, 
so it was as bright as 
day. Right across from 
the  Schremmer  Häusel, 
the  Jews  were  working 
in  the  icy  waters  of 
the mountain stream. It 
was  November,  and  we 
people  from  Wüstewal-
tersdorf  know  that 
November is as cold as 
any winter month in our 
region. I turned to Ms. 
Christoph  and  said: 
‘May God have mercy on 
our  souls  when  the 
wheel  turns!’  I  will 
never forget that even-

ing or what I felt and 
said then and there.
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Memories  of  Norbert 
Szeinowicz

There  were  a  lot  of 
fatal  work  accidents, 
or they sent us to the 
camp  at  Dörnhau,  the 
place from where almost 
nobody  ever  returned. 
While I was working for 
the Organisation Todt, 
my  lungs  were  damaged 
and  they  sent  me  to 
Dörnhau, which is where 
they  sent  all  sick 
people from the camp in 
this region.
My first impression of 
the camp: Human beings 
looking like skeletons; 
they could barely lift 
their legs; every move-
ment meant great pain; 
most of them could not 
even get up from their 
cots  anymore.  We  were 
handed  out  700  g  of 
bred  and  a  soup  per 
day, but the soup was 
actually more like wa-
ter.  Millions  of  lice 
crawled  over  bodies 
covered in boils. I had 
never seen such a pest 
of vermin in any of the 
other camps. The pris-
oners were simply lying 
there naked – no under-
wear,  no  prisoner’s 
uniform. Only a simple 
blanket.  Thousands  of 
inmates  died  at 
Dörnhau;  most  of  them 
starved  to  death.  The 
victims were not shot, 
but they were dreaming 
of being shot, and they 
were  so  disheartened 
that they simply waited 
for  death  to  come. 
Those  who  were  still 
strong  enough  to  drag 

themselves outside ate 
dirt. This is where my 
friend  Leon  Berwald 
from  Krakow,  a  well-
known  athlete,  died. 
When  I  saw  him  at 
Dörnhau,  he  did  not 
look like a human being 
anymore. Because of the 
boils  springing  from 
the  lice  bites  there 
was  pus  all  over  his 
body.  I  knew  that  I 
would not survive under 
these  conditions  for 
long.  Prisoners  from 
surrounding camps were 
brought  to  Dörnhau  to 
work  on  the  rail 
tracks. They were kept 
in a separate camp. I 
managed  to  sneak  into 
that camp. Even though 
I  was  suffering  from 
pneumonia,  I  went  to 
work with them. My col-
leagues  were  dragging 
me along, because I did 
not  have  the  strength 
to  walk  on  my  own. 
After a month, when the 
Red  Army  came  closer, 
we  were  sent  back  to 
Dörnhau. Luckily, that 
was only two days be-
fore  the  liberation. 
The only people remain-
ing  in  Dörnhau  were 
sick  with  typhoid 
fever.  Except  for 
Schulmann, nobody from 
Krakow was still alive. 
Hundreds  of  unburied 
bodies were lying out-
side the barracks.
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